
Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea 
 

1973-1982 
Concluded at Montego Bay, Jamaica on 10 December 1982 

 
 

Document:- 
A/CONF.62/ SR.44 

 
 

Summary Records of Plenary Meetings 
44th plenary meeting 

 
Extract from the Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of  

the Sea, Volume I (Summary Records of Plenary Meetings of the First and Second Sessions, and 
of Meetings of the General Committee, Second Session) 

 

 

 

 

 

Copyright © United Nations 
2009 



44th meeting—24 July 1974 191

44th meeting
Wednesday, 24 July 1974, at 10.15 a.m.

President: Mr. H. S. AMERASINGHE (Sri Lanka).

Tribute to Simon Bolivar the Liberator (concluded)

1. The PRESIDENT said that the special plenary meeting of
the Conference was being held as an act of homage to the
memory of Simon Bolivar, the Liberator, on the 191st anniver-
sary of his birth. Men of that fibre belonged not to one people
or one continent but wherever human dignity and freedom
were respected as the essence of the human condition. Bolivar
had been born during an age of revolutionary ferment, which
had witnessed two events that had had a dramatic effect on
world history, the American Declaration of Independence and
the French Revolution. The finest elements in the human spirit
and character often emerged during the most tempestuous pe-
riods of history. Although born into conditions of affluence,
Simon Bolivar had at a very early age renounced those privi-
leges and had waged a bold struggle to win independence for
his homeland and other fellow Latin Americans from a pow-
erful and tenacious foreign ruler. In his own words, he had
fought for liberty and everything that was great and beautiful.
In 15 years he had won freedom for five Latin American coun-
tries and, throughout all the vicissitudes that had barred his
way to final triumph, had displayed indomitable perseverance
and invincible courage born of faith in his mission and of the
genuine conviction that all men were entitled to be free. He was
the stuff of which great leaders and liberators were made: un-
daunted by defeat, a stranger to fear and fatigue, animated by

an indestructible faith in the justice of his cause and sustained
throughout by unswerving devotion to his people. Such men
served as an example and inspiration wherever freedom and
liberty were cherished.
2. Mr. DE ALW1S (Sri Lanka), speaking on behalf of the
Asian group of countries, said that history recorded the names
of many conquerors and colonialists but rarely those of a single
individual who had been chosen by the free will of the people.
President of five countries, with one of them named after him,
Simon Bolivar had told the newly formed Congress, when
requested to be head of State, that Venezuela must be ruled by
laws made by representatives of all the people, not by a dic-
tator, and had considered it a greater honour to be a liberator
than to be king of all the nations of the world. History recorded
instances of pioneers of freedom and freedom fighters in indi-
vidual States, but rarely had one single individual fought for
the freedom of a continent and changed the course of history.
3. All States members of the Conference joined with the
people of Latin America and Venezuela to pay homage to their
noblest son, as an expression of the gratitude of freedom-
loving peoples.
4. Simon Bolivar and what he epitomized struck a familiar
chord for Asian countries whose freedom and civilization,
dating back many thousands of years, had been interrupted by
periods of colonial domination and which, although they had



192 Second Session—Plenary Meetings

regained political freedom, were still battling for economic
freedom.
5. It was appropriate that the Conference should join in
paying a tribute to the great Liberator because its aim was to
ensure that the riches of the sea could be used to free the
peoples of the world from poverty and want, so that political
freedom could be made a living reality.
6. National and personal self-interest were, within limits, un-
derstandable, but at times must give way to the demands of
social justice. In the name of that great Liberator, Simon
Bolivar, he appealed to delegations to subject national interests
to a spirit of compromise, motivated by the interests of man-
kind as a whole.
7. Mr. GOERNER (German Democratic Republic),
speaking on behalf of the Eastern European group of coun-
tries, assured the Conference's hosts, the Venezuelan Govern-
ment and people, of those countries' gratitude for the opportu-
nity to express the high appreciation Simon Bolivar and his
deeds enjoyed in the socialist countries. Simon Bolivar had
dedicated his life to the struggle for independence of the Latin
American peoples, striving for a society which would result in
the largest possible amount of happiness, social security and
political stability. His social programme had included funda-
mental changes which he knew could not be brought about
immediately but he had been well aware that the consequences
of the movement inspired and led by him would reach far into
the future. Among his historic merits were his early endeavours
for the international organization of peoples, for instance, the
convocation of the Congress of Panama. It was therefore not
surprising that he was honoured not only in Latin America but
in the socialist States and throughout the world.
8. The peoples of Latin America were paying their tribute to
Simon Bolivar by strengthening their political and economic
independence and participating actively in the universal
struggle for the consolidation of world peace and detente in
international relations and their success in that struggle was a
source of satisfaction to progressive people all over the world.
9. Mr. MANNER (Finland), speaking on behalf of the West
European and other States, said that the statements made
during the general debate had shown the great admiration of
speakers from the whole world for Simon Bolivar, who had led
the fight for the independence of Bolivia, Colombia, Ecuador,
Peru and Venezuela. Many heroes were of an essentially na-
tional character, but occasionally history had known individ-
uals whose significance to mankind as a whole had proved to
be so outstanding that they had in fact become the common
heritage of mankind. Simon Bolivar was still universally
known as a symbol of independence for all nations, of the
conviction that freedom and self-determination were the pre-
requisites for all people to reach the highest values of human
life. He had been one of the first champions of the third world,
a statesman the results of whose aims and ideals were to be
seen, inter alia, in the high number of independent States repre-
sented at the Conference.
10. Mr. ABDEL HAMID (Egypt), speaking on behalf of the
Arab countries, said that every participant in the Conference
was privileged to be present in Caracas upon the historic occa-
sion of Simon Bolivar's birthday. The Liberator belonged to
the entire world and was a spiritual leader for all free peoples
and for those yearning for liberation.
11. Simon Bolivar had been a visionary, soldier, statesman,
political prophet and internationalist. His vision had enabled
him to see the potential of America and he more than anyone
else had been responsible for keeping alive the idea of indepen-
dence in the face of overwhelming odds. His faith in his ideal
and in himself had given him the courage to face adversity as
few men in history had faced it and from each reversal he had
emerged stronger than before.
12. Internationalists throughout the world claimed Simon
Bolivar as one of their heroes. To many he was the spiritual

father of Pan-Americanism, and an early prophet of the
League of Nations and the United Nations. His thinking had
caused him to convene the Congress of Panama in 1826, which
had been a success in a number of respects. It had established
that there was an underlying need for continental unity in
peace-time as well as in armed struggle; had provided the first
opportunity for a number of new nations to express opinions
on matters of common concern and it had been the first of a
series of congresses out of which had emerged the Organization
of American States, the Central American Common Market
and the Latin American Free Trade Association.
13. Many of the lofty principles that Simon Bolivar had
stood for and even given his life for were embodied in the
Charter of the United Nations and the constitutions of other
international organizations, and were the basis of the whole
process of decolonization and rejection of foreign occupation
which had taken place since the establishment of the United
Nations.
14. For Latin Americans, Simon Bolivar was no vague his-
torical character but a living entity, an omniscient being who
guided their destinies, and for millions of other people in
Africa and Asia, his achievements, based on concepts of liberty
and justice, were a constant source of inspiration in the pursuit
of their struggle aimed at the same noble objectives.
15. For the peoples of the Arab world, many of which had
been subjected to colonial domination over the years, while
others were still struggling against foreign occupation or
seeking to achieve respect for their legitimate rights, Simon
Bolivar's lofty principles were of particular significance. His-
tory could testify that freedom was indivisible. It could not be
achieved for some nations and denied to others. Simon Bolivar
had believed in freedom in its true meaning and had wanted it
for the peoples of the whole world.
16. Mr. ABAD SANTOS (Philippines), speaking on behalf
of the Association of South East Asian Nations (ASEAN)
expressed their pride in paying homage to the great Liberator.
With the exception of Thailand, the members of ASEAN had
emerged from colonial domination after the Second World
War, but all shared the heritage of freedom personfied in South
America by Simon Bolivar. They hoped that the freedom
which pervaded Latin America would continue to flourish and
inspire other peoples still struggling for emancipation and,
above all, that the libertarian spirit would permeate the deliber-
ations of the Conference and unify its efforts to establish a new
world order for the oceans where all nations would enjoy
freedom, justice and equality for the benefit of all peoples.
17. Mr. JEANNEL (France) said that France, the country of
liberty, could obviously not remain silent on the birthday of a
man who had devoted his life to gaining freedom and justice
for his fellow citizens. He was, however, speaking not only on
behalf of his own country but of the nine members of the
European Economic Community, which pursued and defended
those ideals to which Simon Bolivar had devoted his life. It was
fitting that the Conference should honour his memory at a
special meeting.
18. Mr. CISSE (Senegal), speaking on behalf of the group of
African States, welcomed the opportunity to participate in the
ceremony to honour the memory of Simon Bolivar, a shining
example who had inspired the people of the third world and the
liberation movements, and a man whose name was indelibly
engraved in the minds and hearts of those who upheld the
cause of peace and freedom.
19. Mr. BAKULA (Peru) expressed the admiration of the
Latin American countries, and in particular those five States
liberated by Simon Bolivar, for the great thinker, politician
and soldier, the anniversary of whose birthday it was. The
battles of Junin and Ayacucho, the 150th anniversaries of
which were being celebrated in 1974 and the convening of the
Congress of Panama had marked the zenith of his political
achievement and had paved the way for his influence in Latin



44th meeting—24 July 1974 193

America and throughout the world. The battle of Junin was of
decisive importance for the future campaign. It was the first
great patriotic victory in which the troops of Jose de San
Marti'n and Simon Bolivar had fought together. These men
from all parts of Latin America had been supported by citizens
of other countries, faithful to the cause of freedom for which
many of their countrymen had died. The battle of Ayacucho
had even more reason to be called "the battle of the nations"
and had ensured political independence and the end of the
colonial era.
20. No liberation movement supported by the people could
fail, but the ability to organize, direct and inspire was necessary
to ensure its triumph. Bolivar had used those gifts in the cam-
paign for freedom but could not have achieved success without
the support of thousands of ordinary people from the country-
side and the towns.
21. Bolivar had shown his inspired imagination and political
vision in his organization of the peace. Even before he had
known that colonial domination had ended, he had been plan-
ning a congress of neighbouring States, the seeds of which had
been sown in the Carlos de Jamaica and developed in the
document countersigned by the Peruvian Chancellor in De-
cember 1924 which had reconciled Utopia and reality.

22. Although the heroes of American independence had not
been able to complete their work, their influence had lasted to
the present day. The revolutionary Government of Peru was
continuing the work of Bolivar and his precursor Tupac Am-
aru by abolishing structures which threatened the sovereignty
and dignity of the people and was promoting a new, just society
at home and eliminating any links with domination and depen-
dence abroad. The aim of the Peruvian people was to attain
that liberty for which Bolivar had given his life, to achieve the
unity of peoples fighting to that end, to contribute to an inter-
national organization which guaranteed peace and justice for
all and, when the process of integration enabled them to bring
about the objective set forth in the convocation to the Congress
of Panama, namely to obtain the system of safeguards which,
in peace and in war, would be the shield of their new destiny, to
make the whole of America and each of its inhabitants a monu-
ment to his memory.
23. In Peru, Bolivar had heard what was perhaps the most
prophetic of all words of praise, at the foot of the walls of an
Inca fortress, when a descendant of the ancient Kings of
Tahuantinsuyo had told him that he had achieved what no man
before him had achieved and that his glory would grow with
the centuries. The truth of those words was proved by the
homage rendered to the Liberator by all nations of the earth,
gathered together at Caracas to discuss a new order for the
ocean space.
24. Mr. DE ABAROA Y GON1 (Spain) said that his delega-
tion felt special satisfaction in joining in sponsoring the draft
resolution in tribute to Simon Bolivar, who had devoted his life
to the emancipation of the Latin American nations. Their in-
dependence had not broken their unity of interests; rather, that
unity had to seek new channels. The current Conference was a
manifestation of Bolivar's ideal of universal co-operation in the
cause of peace, security and economic and social development.
25. Mr. STEVENSON (United States of America) said it was
particularly appropriate that, in the very birthplace of Simon
Bolfvar, the representatives of States should be meeting with a
view to ensuring the reign of peace and justice over the oceans
of the world. The work of the Conference would be in harmony
with the noble ideals to which Simon Bolivar had devoted his
life.
26. In the United States, the large number of monuments to
the memory of the Liberator showed the admiration felt for a
man whose influence had benefited all nations. His delegation
was therefore very proud to pay a tribute to the memory of a
great leader who had fought for justice and freedom under the

law. He felt it would be a fitting tribute if Conference delegates
could extend Bolivar's vision of justice, freedom and law to the
world seas.
27. Mr. DORON (Israel) welcomed the opportunity to recall
the work and thought of Simon Bolivar, an undisputed cham-
pion of the principles of law and justice whose genius tran-
scended continents, seas and the barriers of time. Despite the
great distance that separated them, Israel felt spiritual kinship
with the nations that he had founded.
28. The foremost desire of the nations gathered to pay hom-
age to Simon Bolivar was to see the fulfilment of the ideals to
which he had dedicated his life—the ideals of a man who, by
birth, was an illustrious son of Venezuela, whose fight for
liberation had made him an illustrious son of America, and
whose defence of the ideals of peace, harmony and freedom
had also made him an illustrious son of the whole world.
29. Mr. SAULESCU (Romania) said he took great pleasure
in supporting the initiative of the Latin American delegations
in commemorating the birth of Simon Bolivar, who had de-
voted his entire energies to the cause of revolution and inde-
pendence and to co-operation among States. His perseverance
and his profound love of freedom and justice provided a con-
stant source of inspiration.
30. Through the efforts of the people of Venezuela and the
other Latin American countries, the ideals upheld by Simon
Bolivar had not foundered. The Government and people of
Venezuela should be congratulated on their success in achiev-
ing the ideals of progress and peace to which he and the other
heroes of Venezuela had dedicated their lives.
31. Mr. LILIC (Yugoslavia) said that his delegation wel-
comed the opportunity to pay a tribute to Simon Bolivar, the
great humanist and fighter for independence. It was symbolic
that the Conference should be held in the birthplace of a man
whose ideals had inspired the countries of Latin America to
free themselves from the colonialist yoke, just as they contin-
ued to inspire the peoples still struggling against oppression.
32. While the Conference was working in the cause of pro-
gress, peace and a fair distribution of the riches of the seas, it
was fitting to bear in mind the principles of peace, justice and
sovereign equality for which Boli'var had stood.
33. Mr. BONILLA ABAR (Dominican Republic) said that
the genius and influence of Simon Bolivar remained a powerful
incentive. His ideals had formed the basis for the inter-
American system for the peaceful settlement of disputes and
non-intervention in the domestic affairs of States. The lack of
an effective world legal order was due to the failure to apply, on
a world scale, the principles that Simon Bolivar had advocated.
34. Mr. KAKODKAR (India) welcomed the opportunity to
pay a tribute to Simon Bolivar, the great leader whose ideas of
national sovereignty, self-determination, co-operation and sol-
idarity among nations had been the precursors of present-day
internationalism and the welfare of mankind. His principles
and ideals of continental freedom, international political orga-
nization, brotherhood among peoples and the peaceful settle-
ment of disputes within the context of the commonwealth of
nations found their expression in the objectives sought by the
current Conference. There could be no worthier tribute than
that paid by the greatest gathering of countries in the history of
the United Nations to Simon Bolivar, the illustrious emanci-
pator of peoples and creator of nations.
35. Mr. K.OLOSOVSK.Y (Union of Soviet Socialist Repub-
lics) said that today his delegation shared the thoughts of
Venezuela and Latin America in whose war of independence
there had been many admirable personalities whose memory
still survived. In the constellation of heroes, the star of Simon
Bolivar shone with particular brilliance. The Soviet people,
together with all the Latin American countries, honoured the
name of the Liberator. The sympathy of the Soviet people with
all those struggling for freedom and independence was well



194 Second Session—Plenary Meetings

known. Simon Bolivar had dedicated his entire life to that
struggle and it was to him that a special tribute had been paid
by another leader of the Latin American liberation movement,
the national hero of the Cuban people, Jose Marti.

36. The revolutionary movement of the peoples of Latin
America during the eighteenth century and at the beginning
of the nineteenth century had been warmly welcomed by pro-
gressive people in every country, including Russia. While there
could not have been direct contacts between Russia and the
republics of the new world at that time, a notable manifestation
of the links between Russia and Latin America had been the
visit to Russia by another great son of Venezuela, Francisco de
Miranda. The great October Socialist revolution had opened
wide perspectives for the development of cultural links and co-
operation between the Soviet Union and the Latin American
countries and Soviet public opinion constantly demonstrated
great interest in the history and current affairs of the Latin
American countries. It was sufficient to state that books by
Latin American authors published in the Soviet Union during
the years of Soviet power exceeded 20 million copies.

37. In commemorating Simon Bolivar's birth, the Conference
was once again underscoring .the universal nature and meaning
of the life and work of the Liberator, an ardent patriot, a great
military leader and an outstanding statesman who had totally
dedicated his life to the cause of the struggle for the freedom of
Venezuela and other Latin American countries. He had stated
that his only love had been that of country, his only ambition
its freedom and that he would not rest until that freedom had
been completely ensured, and he had honoured that pledge.
38. Bolivar had demonstrated his extraordinary statesman-
ship by expressing himself in favour of the close union of the
Latin American peoples in order to strengthen their political
and economic independence. As a great military leader, he had
gained a series of brilliant victories and his final goal had been
the re-establishment of peace and the prosperity of the free
peoples of Latin America. It was particularly fitting that the
anniversary of his birth should be commemorated in his native
country and dearly loved city.

39. He wished to express the respect and sympathy of the
peoples of the Soviet Union towards the Venezuelan people
which linked them in friendship and co-operation.
40. Mr. THOMPSON (Jamaica), speaking on behalf of the
Caribbean countries of the Latin American region, said that he
wished to pay a special tribute to Simon Bolivar, who, though
he had suffered illnesses and military set-backs, had always
resumed the fight for freedom. He was a giant of history whose
ideals should be taught to the children of today so that they
would understand that, were he alive, there would be less isola-
tionism and more individual freedom.

41. Simon Bolivar had found solace in Jamaica and while
there had written his famous Cartas de Jamaica. The Libera-
tor had also been welcomed in Haiti and other countries and
had thus sown the seed of freedom throughout the area. The
people of the Caribbean countries were therefore greatly hon-
oured to pay a tribute to that great man.

42. Mr. CHOWDHURY (Bangladesh) said that for the
people of his country, the present meeting was a solemn occa-
sion of great significance. Simon Bolivar had stood for the
same cause as the people of Bangladesh to whom his life and
work had a special appeal since they were inspired by his ideals
of human dignity. Bolivar's credo had been the total respect for
all human rights and neither comfort nor honour nor pleasures
had kept him from fighting for freedom. He belonged to all
countries and his work transcended all boundaries and lan-
guages since he had spoken for all oppressed peoples who had
fought against tyranny. For him, the inalienable human rights
were the cherished goals of all mankind. The meeting was a
fitting tribute to a fearless and determined person who knew
that truth and justice would ultimately triumph.

43. Mr. EHRMAN (Panama) said that the day was one on
which the heroic Republic of Venezuela commemorated the
birth of its worthiest son. It was in Panama that Simon Bolivar
had brought together the plenipotentiaries of free America and
it was on Panama's soil that the two great oceans had been
linked. The people of Panama revered Simon Bolivar and
hoped that their land would achieve the fulfilment of his
promise.

44. Mr. SCHACHT ARISTEGUIETA (Venezuela), on be-
half of the people and Government of Venezuela, thanked the
President for his generous words. He also thanked the regional
groups and those countries that had spoken spontaneously in
paying a tribute to the father of his country. There were no
words to express his delegation's sincere acknowledgement of
the public tribute of admiration and respect paid by nearly all
the nations of the world to Venezuela's greatest hero, Simon
Bolivar. He thanked the Conference which, on the initiative of
the representative of El Salvador and the Latin American
countries, had unanimously agreed to hold a commemorative
meeting on the occasion of the anniversary of the birth of the
Liberator, a visionary precursor of the international organiza-
tion, whose historical figure was universal in nature and whose
work, based on the concepts of respect and justice for the
progress of peoples, had left an indelible mark on history and
was a source of constant inspiration.

45. For Venezuela, Simon Bolivar held a high place of
honour among the immortals of the world. His dimensions as a
citizen, statesman, thinker, humanist and, later military man,
extended beyond the geographical confines of Venezuela and
had made him a universal and legendary figure. Despite his
brief life, he had left behind him important achievements of
universal interest promoting the highest principles of freedom
in law and justice. He had traced a new history for mankind in
which men, peoples and civilizations had followed, step by
step, an inevitable cycle, not yet complete, to show that
freedom was not a myth but a goal to be achieved.

46. Before Simon Bolivar, another illustrious Venezuelan,
Francisco Miranda, the most universal American of the nine-
teenth century, had shown the way of redemption of the op-
pressed Latin American peoples. A third outstanding Venezu-
elan had been Andres Bello, America's greatest humanist and
its cultural "liberator". Those three had brought international
recognition to their country which today, deeply moved and
proud, was receiving a tribute of admiration and respect for
one who, through the supreme sacrifice of his efforts, had laid
the institutional foundation for Venezuela's political, economic
and social sovereignty.

47. Simon Bolivar had conceived and designed, more than
100 years ago, a scheme similar to that which the members of
the contemporary international community were attempting to
bring about. His thoughts and deeds had not been based on
provincial or local concepts, but had been universal in their
scope. He had been a visionary statesman who had taught the
most permanent lesson of unity for the achievement of peace.
When he had ended, at Ayacucho, one of the most prolonged
struggles of man for his freedom, he had convinced the Con-
gress of Panama to establish the fundamental rules of a broad
hemispheric co-operation.

48. A true nation-builder, he had also been the idealistic pre-
cursor of today's modern multinational organizations. The
League of Nations, the United Nations and the Organization of
American States, along with other experiments conceived by
statesmen, internationalists and jurists to promote interna-
tional co-operation in the search for peace, had been conceived
many years before in the prodigious mind of Simon Bolivar.
Venezuela would be displaying false modesty if it failed to note,
before the Conference, some of the valuable ideological and
conceptual contributions of Simon Bolivar to international in-
stitutions.



45th meeting—26 July 1974 195

49. The generous act of tribute to the Liberator honoured
both his memory and Venezuela. However, it should also be
interpreted as a demonstration of international unity and soli-
darity, so indispensable in contemporary multinational soci-
ety. Venezuela wished to interpret that grand gesture of
friendly nations, not only as proof of their admiration for its
hero and friendship for Venezuela, but also as a promise and
hope whereby nearly all the countries of the world were seeking
the instruments for understanding among peoples that would
transcend naturally opposing interests and inevitable ideolog-
ical differences and political systems.
50. Venezuela was satisfied and proud to serve as the scene of
such an example of universal brotherhood since it was firmly
convinced that only such fraternity could combine the neces-
sary efforts and sacrifices to save the human race from the
multiple dangers which it faced. However, with imagination
and daring, there was still time to make the corrections which
history required. Today's world and that of succeeding genera-
tions could still be saved from disaster. International social
justice called for social and economic levelling which Was only
being partially achieved and in very few nations of the interna-
tional community. The task was arduous, but inevitable and
necessary.

51. Simon Bolivar had stated that the lessons of experience
should not be forgotten and that the schools of Greece, Rome,
France, England and America had taught the difficult science
of establishing and preserving nations through appropriate,
just, legitimate and, above all, useful laws, never forgetting that
excellency in government did not reside in its theory, form or
machinery, but in its being appropriate to the nature and char-
acter of the nation for which it was instituted.

52. He hoped that those great thoughts of the Liberator
would guide peoples and Governments and that the spirit of
that man of vision would inspire all to find the best way of
bringing final and permanent peace to nations.

53. The CHAIRMAN thanked the Minister for Foreign
Affairs of Venezuela for his statement and said that, accom-
panied by the Chairmen of the Main Committees and the
Drafting Committee, the Rapporteur-General, the Special
Representative of the Secretary-General and the Executive
Secretary, he would proceed to the National Pantheon to lay
a wreath in commemoration of the anniversary of Simon
Bolivar's birth.

The meeting rose at 12.50 p.m.


	Main Menu
	List of Documents
	How to use List of Documents

	Master File
	How to use Master File

	Other Materials
	I. Preface
	II. Document Symbols
	III. Full-text Search
	IV. Tables
	A. GA Resolutions
	B. Conference Sessions
	C. Documents by Session
	D. Contents by Volume
	E. Negotiating Texts
	F. Chronology - LOS



	Main: 


